# Northwestern College, Iowa

**NWCommons** 

Master's Theses & Capstone Projects

Education

5-2019

# Vocabulary Development in Preschool English Language Learners

Annie Van Der Zwaag

Follow this and additional works at: https://nwcommons.nwciowa.edu/education\_masters

Part of the <u>Early Childhood Education Commons</u>, and the <u>Language and Literacy Education Commons</u>

Vocabulary Development in Preschool English Language Learners

Annie Van Der Zwaag

Northwestern College

An Action Research Project Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements For the Degree of Master of Education May 2019

Dr. Sara Waring-Tiedeman

**Table of Contents** 

Abstract	3
Review of the Literature	5
Methods	18
Participants	18
Data Collection	18
Findings	20
Data Analysis	20
Discussion	23
Summary of Major Findings	23
Limitations of the Study	24
Further Study	25
Conclusion	25

#### **Abstract**

The purpose of this actions research project was to determine what the impact of using pictures when teaching vocabulary would have on preschool English Language Learners (ELLs). Participants were four and five-year-olds in a public preschool. Quantitative data was taken using Creative Curriculum GOLD to collect observations. Two checkpoints were used for this research. The fall checkpoint was collected in October. The Winter checkpoint was collected in February. Students were shown pictures of new vocabulary words from a story along with pictures in the book. The results of this study suggest that there was a small amount of growth in the students that used pictures to learn new vocabulary words.

## Vocabulary Development in Preschool English Language Learners

Many teachers today will be faced with the challenge of teaching a diverse population of students. With this diverse population comes the opportunity to teach English language learners (ELLs). There are more than 3,000 million ELLs in the nation's school system, and that number is expected to rise. ELLs are students that are unable to communicate or learn in English. They can be students that speak any language other than English. These students are entering kindergarten less prepared than their English speaking peers. Developing vocabulary is one way to help ELLs catch up to their peers.

Vocabulary is a critical aspect of learning the English language. Without a strong vocabulary foundation, many aspects of speaking will be impaired. For the purpose of this project, the research will focus on the development of vocabulary in preschool age children. Many studies have been done on how to best help students learn English, but few focus on preschool students. The research literature does agree that English vocabulary knowledge needs to be enhanced. With this in mind teachers need to be aware of how a second language is acquired.

There has been a significant amount of research done on how students acquire a second language. There are five stages ELLs will go through. Those five stages include preproduction, early production, speech emergence, intermediate fluency, and advanced fluency. The rate at which students go through the five stages varies among students. It is essential that teachers know what stage the student is in; to best help them learn English. This will allow the teacher to meet the students' needs and provide adequate accommodations.

What the researcher is seeking to determine is if the use of pictures will help preschool children learn new vocabulary. "As compared to their English-speaking peers, ELLs are exposed to English vocabulary at a later age and are less likely to be exposed to extensive English

oral language experiences at home, thus negatively affecting their vocabulary development" (August & Shanahan, 2010, p. 344). Insufficient vocabulary may lead to academic struggles later in school. This is why teachers need to provide a strong vocabulary foundation. Vocabulary development is connected to the amount and quality of language that children hear. Students that have a large vocabulary will have an easier time learning to read due to these words already being part of their oral vocabulary. One approach to addressing the diverse needs of ELLs is through the implementation of explicit vocabulary instruction in the classroom with the use of pictures.

#### **Review of the Literature**

# Importance of vocabulary instruction

Vocabulary is crucial to teaching the English language. Communication will be difficult for students who lack sufficient vocabulary. The importance of meeting the needs of ELLs in preschool is imperative. Many ELLs enter preschool with little to no English. This will be their first experience with the English language. Children whose first language is not English need to hear and participate in the English language in order to develop ideas on how language works.

Without a strong vocabulary foundation, oral and receptive language may be delayed. There is a strong relationship between both first and second language oral competence and English language arts achievement from toddlerhood to the end of 2nd grade. Yet estimates indicated that most ELLs have difficulty with English and have proficiency levels below those of children of similar socioeconomic status whose first language is English. The effects of oral language strength extends beyond school achievement to influence children's ability to control their behavior, to form rewarding social connection

to others, and to successfully negotiate the English-speaking everyday world, both inside and outside of school. (Roberts, 2017, p. 35)

Reading comprehension can also be affected by poor vocabulary. Children need to know a wide range of words to understand the texts they will encounter in school. "Many ELLs walk into the classroom with limited English language backgrounds and find that vocabulary is their most challenging encounter in attempting to access information from the classroom texts" (August, Carlo & Snow, 2005, p. 52).

Five stages of language acquisition. According to Haynes (2005) there are five stages of second language acquisition. The first stage is preproduction. This is when students are learning new words. "In a nonverbal period, children listen to and study a new language, trying to understand which rules apply. As they gain more competence in English, they may rehearse the English language. Often students will repeat words, but they are not producing language" (Cheatham, 2010, p. 19). This is a time when it is helpful to pair a student with another that speaks the same language. The second stage is early production, which lasts approximately six months. During this stage, ELLs acquire the understanding of up to 1,000 words. During this stage, students will start to use one or two-word phrases. The third stage is speech emergence. By this time ELLs with have approximately 3,000 words. Students may start to ask simple questions, but they may not be grammatically correct. They are gaining greater comprehension and beginning to read and write. Students may engage in short conversations with peers. The fourth stage is intermediate fluency. This stage can last up to a year. By this time, the ELLs will have up to 6,000 words. Speech becomes more complex, and students begin thinking in the second language. The final stage is advanced fluency. This stage can last two years or longer. In this stage, students will be able to perform in content area learning.

Oral Vocabulary. There is evidence that disadvantages in oral language at preschool age have extensive and long-lasting effects on a child's future development. "Vocabulary knowledge, in particular, has been shown to play a significant role in academic achievement for both monolingual populations and ELLs" (Bowers, 2011, p. 222). Sizes of both expressive and receptive vocabulary are significantly related to later reading development. "Just as speakers of a first language must engage in frequent, meaning-centered interactions with speakers of that language, so should ELLs. The central element of all instruction for ELLs should be to make rich language comprehensible" (García, 2003, p. 33). García (2003) explained that teachers should accompany oral explanations and teacher read alouds with visuals, gestures, and dramatization to illustrate key concepts and vocabulary.

Children need to be successful at the concrete level of oral language before they can begin applying this knowledge to higher levels of thinking. "The concrete level of oral language includes such tasks as labeling, describing, and word recall, while the higher level skills include activities such as identifying similarities and differences, predicting, and explaining" (Massey, 2004, p. 228). "It is thought that a critical window of opportunity for the development of oral language exists during the preschool years and research has shown that the pace of oral language acquisition slows after this age" (Pullen & Justice, 2003, p. 95). "Assessment of receptive and expressive vocabulary knowledge is a way to measure the concrete level of oral language for preschool children" (Coppola, 2005, p. 20).

## Rapid growth of ELLs in School.

There has been rapid growth in the number of ELLs in the United States. According to the National Center for Education Statistics, in the fall of 2015, there were 4.8 million ELL students enrolled in school compared to 3.8 million in the fall of 2000. Many of those students

were in the lower grades. This represents ten percent of the K-12 population. "ELLs are the fastest-growing student population in the country, growing 60% in the last decade, as compared with 7% growth of the general student population. Nearly 60% of ELLs nationwide are from low-income families in which parents have "disproportionately" limited levels of education" (Breiseth, 2015, par. 1). Because of the large growth of ELLs, their long-term educational acquirement is a compelling concern for educators at all levels. "The fact that the nation's teachers are and will increasingly encounter a diverse range of learners requires that every teacher has sufficient breadth and depth of knowledge and range of skills to be able to meet the unique needs of all students, including those who struggle with English" (Samson & Collins, 2012, p. 4).

The nations young child (0-8) ELL population is also on the rise at 32 percent according to the Migration Policy Institute. Much of the research suggests that there are benefits of bilingualism. "Home-language skills and experiences with different cultures represents important assets for ELLs' development" (Park, Toole, & Katsiaficas, 2017, p. 1). Young ELLs will benefit from high-quality pre-kindergarten. "However, ELLs across the United States are enrolling in pre-Kindergarten programs at lower rates than their non-ELL peers. As the young ELL population grows, policies need to safeguard that all young children are able to build a strong foundation for future success" (Park, Toole, & Katsiaficas, 2017, p. 1).

#### Insufficient vocabulary knowledge is a critical problem

Strong vocabulary skills is a significant predictor of later success in academic skills. Teachers need to lay a strong vocabulary foundation in preschool and early elementary to help children succeed in later years. "Children who acquire large vocabularies in their early years are better prepared for literacy than those children with poor vocabularies" (Coppola, 2005, p. 19). Heart and Risley (2003) estimated that the average child from a professional family would

be exposed to an accumulated experience of about 42 million words compared to 13 million words for the child from a low-income family. To catch up, children with less vocabulary will need to gain several hundred words in addition to what they would otherwise learn. For ELLs, this number would be even greater. "The average 3-year-old English speaker knows about 1,000 root words, the average kindergartener knows about 3,000 root words, and the average 2nd grader knows about 5,000-6,000. If children enter kindergarten as ELLs, they are likely to have a 2,000-3,000 word gap" (Roberts, 2017, p. 96). ELL kindergarteners need a rate of English vocabulary learning at least double of a typical native English speaker to close the gap. "Vocabulary knowledge beginning in the preschool years is recognized to have a strong predictive relationship to reading comprehension" (Catts, Adolf, & Wismer, 2006, p. 220). For those students who have limited or no English, vocabulary difficulties can be significantly enhanced.

There is an increasing need for more studies that examine vocabulary growth in young ELLs. "There also needs to be considerations for factors that influence vocabulary growth and how vocabulary growth influences literacy achievement" (Jackson, Schatschneider, & Leacox, 2014, p. 42). "In one study done by Hammer et al. (2007) it was found that early exposure to English was not a factor in preschool vocabulary growth. In another study done by Hammer et al. (2011) it was found that children demonstrated an increased rate of growth of their vocabulary during their two years of attendance in a preschool Head Start program" (Jackson, Schatschneider, & Leacox, 2014, p. 48). Thus, there is a need for additional studies, given the importance of vocabulary knowledge to support reading and academic achievement.

# **Challenges**

There are many challenges to teaching ELLs. Teachers need to recognize that these students have unique learning needs. Unfortunately, many teachers do not have the training to

know how to best teach students who speak a different language. Washburn wrote an article about a group of practicum students who were observing in a middle school with a large population of ELLs; "When asked by their professor what the teachers did to help support these students the practicum students reported that many of the teachers did not do anything differently for them. Another one stated that the teacher tried, but they did not know how to help. Teachers need to learn how to work with this diverse population of students" (Washburn, 2008, p. 248). "Many teachers of ELLs are increasingly concerned about being held accountable for their students' progress as measured by a standardized test. Clearly, teachers of ELLs need the appropriate training to be able to meet their students' language and learning needs and to facilitate academic growth, yet most teachers lack this training" (Samson & Collins, 2012, p. 11). Many teacher training programs do not sufficiently train teachers to address ELL's needs. They do not stress teaching instructional approaches. Teachers learn the content in their specific area, but do not talk about the divers language needs of students.

Language shock. Language shock is when a student is in a classroom and does not understand the lesson being taught because it is in a language that is foreign to them. This can lead to students becoming frustrated and angry Other students may call them stupid or dumb. It could be a benefit, for other students, to have the opportunity to learn more about heir ELL classmates. If students are given the chance to better understand their classmates, they may be more accepting of them. Teachers need to be aware of this and take precautions to help students overcome language shock. "Teachers need to have an awareness and knowledge of language, knowing the language needs of English Language Learners (ELLs), and be able to appropriately scaffold their needs to help them develop academic proficiency in English" (Dost, 2016, p. 31).

Teachers need to make students feel welcome in the classroom and feel like they belong. It is

part of the educators' job to make all students, no matter their background, feel safe and included in the classroom. They need to have a strategy in place to ensure that students are comprehending most of what is happening in the classroom.

**Belonging.** Students who speak a different language may feel as if they do not belong in the classroom. In order for students to learn, it is essential that they feel a sense of belonging. It is the teachers responsibility to help students become comfortable in their surroundings. Make sure they know the important places in the school. This could include bathrooms, the office area, lunchroom, guidance office and any rooms where they may attend specials, like physical education or music. They could be assigned to another student to show them around and introduce them to others in the school and community. "They need to feel they are unique, are recognized as themselves, and belong socially and have the rights and duties of membership in a given society. In middle schools, some ways we might develop this feeling are through the advisory program, teaming, and exploratory curriculum" (Washburn, 2008, p. 248). "In addition to language acquisition, ELLs are asked to connect their cultures, backgrounds, and experience with those of their new environment in order to achieve academic success" (Samson & Collins, 2012, p. 13). Teachers need to work hard to ensure that all of their students feel a sense of acceptance in their classroom community. When all students feel included, and like they are understood, the whole class benefits.

**Comprehension.** Many ELLs feel frustrated because they do not understand what is going on in the classroom. It needs to be a priority to find out what students already know. If teachers have students that do not want to speak, or may not be ready to speak, the teacher can ask them to point to objects identified by the other students, helping as needed. "A teacher should make sure his/her body language is visible and noticed by the ELLs as being identical to

what the teachers are talking about. The teachers should say everything at least three of several ways, such as through speech, written words, drawings, and diagrams on the board, photos, and real-life objects" (Washburn, 2008, p. 247).

One way to more fully engage ELLs in the classroom is through teacher-student interactions. If they consider various response options teachers may elicit more from less proficient students. This will help develop their language proficiency. Some ways to help is to be certain questions are clearly understood. Teachers may need to rephrase their questions. They also need to use appropriate wait time. This allows the student time to form their answer. "In addition, while first-language learning is largely motivated by a child's intrinsic desire to socialize, second-language learning often needs more extrinsic influence" (Mohr, 2015, section 1, paragraph 4).

#### **Strategies**

Given the growing number of ELLs in American schools, it is particularly important to investigate instructional effectiveness for children from a variety of linguistic backgrounds. "The goal of vocabulary instruction is to provide students with an understanding of the meaning and use of words so they can comprehend what they are reading and communicate effectively" (Kosanovich, 2005, p. 5). ELLs may not know many of the necessary words of children's early vocabulary. According to many researchers, they will need explicit teaching of vocabulary words. Learning of vocabulary for English language learners can be divided into five stages: (1) The word is unknown; (2) The word sounds familiar to the child, but the meaning is not known; (3) The child can translate the word into his or her native language; (4) The child is able to use

the word correctly in a sentence; and (5) The child understands the meaning of the word in different contexts and can use it correctly in various contexts both grammatically and semantically (Gass & Selinker, 2008).

Frequency of exposure to targeted vocabulary words. Many researchers have found that when children are exposed to target vocabulary words at a high frequency the likelihood that children will understand and remember the new words increases. In a multiple study research design, Biemiller and Boote (2006) found that "repeated reading of a storybook resulted in greater average gains in word knowledge by young children. The researchers found that students made an average gain of 12% compared with the control group (children who only heard the story read once), as measured by a vocabulary test that assessed the meaning of words within context" (Butler et al., 2010, p. 5). "Storybooks provide rich language not often heard in everyday speech, and they offer teachers meaningful context in which to discuss new words" (Silverman, 2007, p. 367).

One approach to target vocabulary words is through dialogic reading. According to Flynn (2011) dialogic reading is a form of shared reading between teachers and students. Dialogic reading is done with an individual or small group of students. Students are encouraged to engage with the book. When the book is first introduced the teacher shows the cover of the book and the illustrations. The students and teacher discuss what they see. During the first reading, the teacher reads the book without asking any questions. The second time reading vocabulary words are introduced. "Wh" questions are asking during this reading. This is the time when the teacher encourages students to use the new vocabulary words. During the third reading, the teacher asks more open-ended questions and expand on the students' responses. This process is

repeated for as long as it holds the students' interests. The process of dialogic reading helps with student engagement and the learning of vocabulary words.

Explicit instruction of targeted vocabulary words. "Effective vocabulary instruction requires educators to explicitly provide rich, robust opportunities for students to learn words, related concepts, and their meanings" (Butler et al., 2010, p. 5). Explicit instruction in vocabulary is defined as explaining words, defining words, teaching word labels, and discussing words and ideas in various contexts (Hindman & Wasik, 2011, p. 352). In a study of scientific vocabulary, in 37 socially and economically diverse preschool children attending an urban childcare center, Leung (2008) found that children had higher expressive vocabulary scores following an intervention that consisted of the reading of informational picture books and hands-on activities where students had the opportunity to use the vocabulary introduced in the story.

Lipsky (2013) stated the following instructional strategies that are effective for expanded vocabulary instruction: questioning, expansions, recasts, intentional teaching of word meaning, fast mapping, modeling/illustrating, provide opportunities for word use, purposeful exposure to new words, define words, and discussing the written form of words. Questioning is when a teacher asks a child to say a word or define a word. Expansions are when an adult restates and then completes a child utterance to add meaning. During recasts, an adult replies to a child's utterance maintaining meaning but changing a component of the sentence, incorporating elements that are slightly above the child's language level. To intentionally teach word meaning an adult uses a variety of direct teaching strategies. Modeling or illustrating the use of words happens when the teacher models how the word is used in context. When the teachers provide opportunities for students to use newly learned words in a variety of contexts, the adult will provide multi-

ple opportunities for the child to use the newly learned words (e.g., art activities, inquiry projects, concept mapping, and retell stories). When the teacher provides purposeful exposure to new words, they use storybook reading, teachers' use of words in context, and multimedia presentation that provides the label or meaning of a word. Defining words asks a child to define a word, or provide a definition of a word in context (e.g., while exploring objects in the science center the teacher holds up a pine cone and says, "this is a pine cone, it grows on a pine tree and releases seeds when it opens").

Questioning and language engagement. Questioning and language engagement boost students' word knowledge. "Children are more likely to learn the meaning of the new words when teachers highlight targeted vocabulary through questioning or comments" (Ard & Beverly, 2004, p. 18). "Researcher-developed 'storybooks' were used to introduce nonsense words to children. The researchers found that children's understanding and memory of the 'words' increased when teachers asked questions and made comments clarifying the meaning of the new words" (Ard & Beverly, 2004, p. 19). Teachers need to be intentional when asking questions to ELL students. They need to be aware of how they are asking the questions so that all students understand and learn.

A study was done by Connor, Morrison, and Slominski (2006) on the language interaction between teachers and students during typical preschool emergent literacy activities such as alphabet recognition, letter-word association, and vocabulary games they found "a substantial variance in time spent on emergent literacy activities (from four to 90 minutes; from half-day to full-day sessions; and from two to five days per week). They also found that classrooms ranged from language-centered environments (where children were immersed in oral language, reading, and writing experiences) to environments where children engaged in predominantly non-literacy

learning activities. An interesting related finding was that children experience very different learning opportunities even when they are classmates in the same learning environment. This suggests the importance of considering background knowledge and experience on learning outcomes" (Connor, Morrison, & Slominski, 2006, p. 682). Conversations and extended interactions is a great way to help develop language in young ELLs. "Responsiveness establishes the positive emotional and relationship conditions for language growth. Expanding and elaborating on what children say and encouraging them to do the same is a mechanism for language growth" (Roberts, 2017, p. 44).

#### How to overcome barriers

Often ELLs will come to school with different traditions and cultures than most of the other students in their classroom. These students need to not only overcome the language barrier but differences in traditions and cultures as well. Helfrich and Bean (2011) explain four barriers that need to be overcome to help ELLs. The first barrier is that teachers may not understand the role of literacy development or the importance of literacy and education in diverse cultures. The second barrier is that teachers may struggle to meet the literacy needs of all learners in their classroom, especially those of ELLs. With the third barrier teachers may not be aware of the value peers, including other ELLs, have in the inclusion and education of ELLs. The fourth and final barrier is when teachers may not feel confident using assessment and progress-monitoring tools with ELLs. (Helfrich & Bean, 2011).

To help overcome the first barrier Helfrich and Bean (2011) suggest that, "effective teachers have high expectations for ELLs, and they value cultural differences. Teachers should tie the cultures of their ELLs to the curriculum whenever possible" (p. 164). "ELLs will bring a wealth of experiences from their families, homes, neighborhoods, and communities to school.

Children with diverse linguistic and cultural backgrounds have stores and experiences that are unique" (Haynes, 2014, section 2, paragraph 2). Give ELLs ample time to share their cultures and experiences. This will allow them to feel part of the classroom community.

Helfrich and Bean suggest to overcome the second barrier, "ELLs may spend more time listening without responding than speaking aloud or volunteering information spontaneously. Teachers should understand that, though a student that may be quiet in class, he or she may be working hard to listen and make sense of what is being said; and because of this, the students may need more time to process information to answer a question or volunteer a response" (Helfrich & Bean, 2011, p. 166). Be sure to give ELLs plenty of wait time after asking them questions. This gives them time to process what is being said. First, they need to figure out what the teacher has said. Then they will need to form their answer. This is often done first in their home language; then an ELL student will need to figure out how to say it in English.

To overcome the third barrier Helfrich and Bean suggest, "teachers should use partner-share, group activities, and peer tutoring, including other ELLs whose knowledge and use of the language is further progressed than others" (Helfrich & Bean, 2011, p. 168). "A buddy who speaks the ELLs language is a wonderful asset at the beginning of the school year. During the adjustment phase, the buddy can explain what is going on. This is a good self-esteem builder for a bilingual buddy and a new friend for the ELL" (Haynes, section 8, paragraph 9, 2014). It is vital to give the "buddies" time to get to know each other during non-academic times. This gives them time to get to know each other without the pressure of learning.

"Teachers should not be hesitant to use assessment, and progress-monitoring tools with ELLs" (Helfrich & Bean, 2011, p. 169). This can help to overcome the fourth barrier. It is sug-

gested that teachers use oral questions and discussions, as well as various forms of adapted assessment. "Give lots of encouragement and praise for what the student can do. Do not dwell on all that they cannot yet do. Create frequent opportunities for success in the class. Do not call upon ELLs to perform alone above their level of competence. Prepare mainstream students to welcome them into the class" (Haynes, 2014, paragraph. 11).

#### **Methods**

#### **Participants**

This action research project was conducted in a half day preschool classroom. The classroom is located in an elementary school building in a rural Iowa community. This particular preschool class has two available sections, morning and afternoon. Each preschool class meets for
four days a week, three hours a day. There are a total of 33 students in both sections; 18 attending in the morning, and 15 in the afternoon. Then ELLs enrolled in this class, and thus became
part of this study. Four of the ELLs attended class in the morning, while the other six attended in
the afternoon. All of the students who participated in this study received instruction entirely in
English. Their home language was not used. The students that attended class in the morning became the experimental group. The students attending in the afternoon became the control group.
There was also one student in the control group that was on an IEP. Along with the students, educators in the classroom included a combined general/special education teacher, a general classroom paraprofessional, and three special education paraprofessionals, who worked one-on-one
with IEP students.

#### **Data Collection**

The main focus of this research project was to discover if using pictures with new vocabulary words would improve ELLs overall language scores in GOLD. Thus, Creative Curriculum

GOLD was the only tool used to collect the necessary data. According to the Center for Educational Measurement and Evaluation (CEME) "The Teaching Strategies GOLD assessment system continues to yield highly valid and reliable results" (Teaching Strategy, 2016, p. 7). Teachers who use this assessment method will track a child's progress throughout the school year by using, primarily, anecdotal notes. These notes are often taken in the form of a journal entry, photos, and videos that are uploaded to the GOLD webpage. Once notes are uploaded, the classroom teacher will score them on the GOLD developmental continuum. There are a total of three checkpoints throughout the school year; however, only two will be used for this research: fall and winter. The fall checkpoint was completed in October. The winter checkpoint was completed in February. For the purpose of this research, only the objectives in language will be looked at.

A checklist was made of 20 vocabulary words that were to be taught throughout the course of this study. Both the control group and the experimental group were shown pictures and asked to name them before being officially introduced to the new words. After spending some time learning the new vocabulary words, both groups were again asked tonnage each of the pictures. To ensure consistency, all of the data collection, with both the experimental and control groups, will be done by either the classroom teacher or the general paraprofessional. As notes are completed, the classroom teacher will upload the documents to the GOLD webpage and then determine how to score them. All notes and records will be taken while students are in their regular classroom environment, during a typical school day.

Students in the experimental group were shown pictures of their new vocabulary words. They were also shown pictures in a book that coincided with their new words. These pictures were then used, throughout the length of a project, to complete different activities that would

help to develop their new vocabulary. Activities used included an interactive word wall, a memory game, and bingo. In turn, the control group was read the same books as the experimental group. The exact same vocabulary words were talked about and explained while reading these books. However, throughout the project, teachers would intentionally use the vocabulary words and talk about them, but the only pictures used were those that were found in the books being read.

# **Findings**

# **Data Analysis**

The data analysis needed to understand this data will be quantitative. The researcher will compare GOLD scores from the fall checkpoint to the winter checkpoint. The independent variable is using pictures to introduce new vocabulary. The dependent variable is sores in GOLD. For the independent variable, the researcher will use a checklist of vocabulary words that will be used before the vocabulary has been introduced and after the study has been completed. The dependent variable data will be collected by taking observation notes. The researcher will then enter them into GOLD and score them accordingly.

Table 1 shows the language scores for students in the experimental group. There were four students in this group. All students spoke Spanish at home. All of them made some gains in their language scores between the fall and winter checkpoints. The smallest gain was one point, and the most significant gain was five points. The experimental group had an average of 50% of students meeting expectations in the fall. In the winter 75% of students were meeting expectations.

#### Table 1

Experimental Group Gold Scores

|--|

Student A	44	45
Student B	40	45
Student C	40	41
Student D	48	51

Table 2 shows the language scores for the control group. There were six students in this group. Out of those six students, one was on an IEP. All of them spoke Spanish at home. One student did not make any gains between the fall and winter checkpoints. The smallest gain was one point, and the most significant gain was eight points. The control group had an average of 67% meeting expectations in the fall and winter.

Table 2

Control Group GOLD Scores

Student Name	Average Fall Score	Average Winter Score

Student E	44	52
Student F	33	34
Student G	43	46
Student H	22	22
Student I	43	47
Student J	46	51

Twenty vocabulary words were selected at the beginning of a study. Before the study began, each child was asked to name the selected vocabulary words. At the end of the study, the students were asked no name the same vocabulary words. The study lasted approximately six weeks. Table 3 shows the growth between before and after the study for the experimental group. The experimental group had an average gain of 4 words.

Table 3

Experimental Group Vocabulary Words

Students Name	Number of Vocabulary Words Before Project	Number of Vocabulary Words After Project
Student A	12	19
Student B	15	16
Student C	12	18
Student D	13	18

18

Table 4 shows the growth between before and after the study for the control group. The control group had an average gain of 2 words.

Table 4

Control Group Vocabulary Words

Students Name	Number of Vocabulary Words Before Project	Number of Vocabulary Words After Project
Student F	11	14
Student G	13	14
Student H	14	18
Student I	1	1
Student J	16	18

15

# **Discussion**

# **Summary of Major Findings**

Student K

The findings of this study indicated that using pictures to teach vocabulary words shows some increase in ELLs language scores in GOLD. Although there was not a dramatic increase

in GOLD scores, there was enough growth to indicate that the study could be successful. This, along with the growth in the number of vocabulary words learned shows that there is some merit to the findings. Allowing students to see a visual of the word in multiple settings is a beneficial way to teach new vocabulary to ELLs. The more often a student is exposed to new vocabulary, the more likely they are to retain those words.

Based on many studies school success is linked to vocabulary knowledge. Listening to new words during a read aloud is a great way to increase new vocabulary intake. It is even better to have those words paired with a picture that is used in multiple settings throughout the classroom. Learning new words through engaging, hands-on activities will help bridge the gap of ELLs. It is essential for teachers to have developmentally appropriate activities planned for all lessons, as well as during available free time. These activities should be taught in a meaningful context and related clusters.

#### **Limitations of the Study**

The sample size in this research study was small, meaning it had low generalizability. To get more valid results, it would have been best to have a larger sample size. It may even be beneficial to add to the study by looking at children in multiple classrooms. This can be built upon even further by comparing children in different school districts. This could allow the researcher a chance to discover how the methods between districts vary. If the researcher also had the opportunity to look at the students' growth over the entire school year, this would help to aid in more accurate findings. In fact, the longer the study is used, the more authentic the results will be. If the study was applied to classrooms on a yearly basis, this would give the researcher a better picture of what the long term effects are on ELLs. Every year may vary, depending on the

students enrolled in the class. This means that the data collected in some years may be extremely limited. However, the potential benefits of this study make any data collection worthwhile.

The validity and reliability of the checklist is still unknown. Since the checklist was teacher made, it is more difficult to determine how accurate it may be. Every classroom is unique and contains a variety of students. The needs of the students will determine who, or how many, are eligible for the study. A teacher researcher wanting to duplicate this action research project in their own classroom may need to make adjustments based on the study's participants.

#### **Further Study**

Pictures should continue to be used in the preschool classroom as a way to help teach vocabulary to all students, but especially ELLs. The researcher recommends that further research and studies need to be conducted in order to determine the actual effects of using pictures to teach vocabulary words. The researcher also recommends that further studies should include a larger population of ELLs in order to see the impact of using pictures to teach new vocabulary words. It would be best to have a study that was able to compare several years' worth of data. This would lead to a more accurate conclusion as to whether or not the study is a useful tool in determining vocabulary retention.

#### Conclusion

Based on the results from the action research that took place, using pictures to teach vocabulary has a small effect on ELLs language scores. There was a slightly more significant increase in GOLD scores among the students of the experimental group versus the control group. More research needs to be conducted in the area of vocabulary interventions for preschool ELLs. There is significantly more research on school-aged children. Now that children are attending

school at an earlier age, there is a need to study the effects of acquiring a second language as a young child.

According to the literature review, appropriate intervention can help narrow the achievement gap between ELLs and their language proficient peers. As teachers implement these interventions, they need to remember that learning vocabulary for ELLs is divided into five stages and what each stage entails. Teachers should be aware of what stage each student is at so that they may accurately meet the needs of each child. Using books as a way to introduce new vocabulary was discussed the most in the research. Teachers should choose vocabulary words from books they read aloud. These words are then intentionally taught. The teacher may point out pictures in the book that show the meaning of the words. After introducing the new vocabulary words through books, teachers then can use hands-on activities to reinforce the new words. Using new vocabulary throughout the day is another strategy that is a natural way to help ELLs learn new words. The teacher should pick a few new words at a time and be intentional about using them as part of conversations held during the school day.

This research will help teachers have a better understanding of how to best help preschool ELLs learn new vocabulary. With the population of ELLs growing in many states, teachers need to be aware of what research says is the best way to help this population of students to be successful in school. "Children who enter school with a proficient level of English follow a similar academic trajectory as native English-speaking children, but those who start school without English proficiency fall behind" (Kieffer, 2008, p.853). By taking the time in preschool to intentionally teach new vocabulary words, ELL students will be better equipped with a more extensive vocabulary to help them succeed as they continue through school.

#### References

- Ard, L., & Beverly, B. (2004, September 1). Preschool word learning during joint book reading:

  Effect of adult questions and comments. *Communication Disorders Quarterly*, 26(1), 17–28.
- August, D., Carlo, M., Dressler, C., & Snow, C. (2005). The critical role of vocabulary development for English language learners. *Learning Disabilities Research and Practice*, 20(1), 50-57.
- August, D. & Shanahan, T. (2010). Response to a review and update on developing literacy in second-language learners: Report of the National Literacy Panel on language minority children and youth. *Journal of Literacy Research*, 42(3), 341-348
- Biemiller, A., & Boote, C. (2006). An effective method for building meaning vocabulary in primary grades. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 98(1), 44-62.
- Bowers, E. P. (2011). The relation between teacher input and lexical growth of preschoolers. Applied Psycholinguistics, 32(2), 221-224.
- Breiseth, L. (2015). What you need to know about ells. Retrieved March 13, 2019, from http://www.colorincolorado.org/article/what-you-need-know-about-ells-fast-facts
- Butler, S., Urrutia, K., Buenger, A., Gonzalez, N., Hunt, M., & Eisenhart, C. (2010). A review of the current research on vocabulary instruction: A research synthesis. National Reading

  Technical Assistance Center. Retrieved from <a href="http://www2.ed.gov/programs/readingfirst/">http://www2.ed.gov/programs/readingfirst/</a>
  support/rmcfinal1.pdf
- Catts, H. W., Adolf, S. M., Weismer, S. E. (2006). Language deficits in poor comprehenders: A case for the simple view of reading. Journal of Speech, Language and Hearing Research, 49, 278–293.

- Cheatham, G., & Yeonsun, E. (2010). Young English learners' interlanguage as a context for language and early literacy development. *Young Children*, 65(4), 18-23.
- Connor, C., Morrison, F., & Slominski, L. (2006, November 1). Preschool instruction and children's emergent literacy growth. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *98*(4), 665–689.
- Coppola, J. (2005). English language learners: Language and literacy development during the preschool years. *The New England Reading Association Journal*, 41(2), 18-23.
- Dost, G. (2016). Preparing linguistically responsive teachers through experiential foreign language tasks: A phenomenological study. *Cognet Education*, *3*(1), 30-32.
- Flynn, K. (2011). Developing children's oral language skills through dialogic reading: Guidelines for implementation. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 44(2), 8-16.
- García, G. E. (2003). The reading comprehension development and instruction of English language learners. In A.P. Sweet & C.E. Snow (Eds.), Rethinking reading comprehension (pp. 30-50). New York, NY: Guilford.
- Gass, S., & Selinker, L. (2008). *Second language acquisition* (3rd ed.). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Hammer, C. S., Lawrence, F. R., & Miccio, A. W. (2007). Bilingual children's language abilities and early reading outcomes in Head Start and kindergarten. *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools, 38*, 237-248.
- Hart, B. & Risley, T. (2003). The early catastrophe: The 30 million word gap. *American Educator*, 27, 4-9.
- Haynes, J. (2014, August). Creating a welcoming classroom environment for pre-k–5 els.

  Retrieved February 21, 2019, from http://blog.tesol.org/creating-a-welcoming-classroom-environment-for-pre-k-5-els/

- Haynes, J. (2005). Stages of second language acquisition. Retrieved February 3, 2019, from <a href="http://www.everythingesl.net/inservices/language\_stages.php">http://www.everythingesl.net/inservices/language\_stages.php</a>
- Helfrich, S. R., & R. M. Bean. (2011). Beginning teachers reflect on their experiences being prepared to teach literacy. *Teacher Education and Practice* 24(2). 201-222.
- Hindman, A. H., Wasink, B (2011). Measuring Teachers knowledge about early language and literacy. *Journal for the Early Intervention Field*, 14, 351-356.
- Jackson, C., Schatschneider, C., & Leacox, L. (2014). Longitudinal analysis of receptive vocabulary growth in young spanish english–speaking children from migrant families.

  \*Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools, 45, 40-51.
- Kieffer, M. (2008). Catching up or falling behind? Initial English proficiency, concentrated poverty, and the reading growth of language minority learners in the United States. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 100, 851-868.
- Kosanovich, M. L., Ph.D. (2004). Kindergarten and first grade student center activities.

  Retrieved February 21, 2019, from <a href="http://www.fcrr.org/Curriculum/pdf/GK-1/TRG\_Final\_Part1.pdf">http://www.fcrr.org/Curriculum/pdf/GK-1/TRG\_Final\_Part1.pdf</a>
- Leung, C. B. (2008). Preschoolers' acquisition of scientific vocabulary through repeated readaloud events, retellings, and hands-on science activities. *Reading Psychology*, 29, 165-193.
- Lipsky, M. G. (2013). Head start teachers' vocabulary instruction and language complexity during storybook reading: predicting vocabulary outcomes of students in linguistically diverse classrooms. *Early Education and Development*, 24, 640-667.
- Massey, S. L. (2004). Teacher-child conversation in the preschool classroom. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, *31*, 227-231.

- Mohr, E. (2015). Extending english language learners' classroom interactions using the response protocol. Retrieved May 8, 2019, from http://www.readingrockets.org/article/extending-english-language-learners-classroom-interactions-using-response-protocol
- Park, M., O' Toole, A., & Katsiaficas, C. (2017, October). Dual language learners a national demographic. Retrieved May 6, 2019, from <a href="https://www.scribd.com/document/361309569/DLL-FactSheet-US#from\_embed">https://www.scribd.com/document/361309569/DLL-FactSheet-US#from\_embed</a>
- Pullen, P. C, & Justice, L. M. (2003). Enhancing phonological awareness, print awareness, and oral language skills in preschool children. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, *39*, 87-98.
- Roberts, T. (2017). Literacy success for emergent bilinguals: Getting it right in the prek-2 classroom (Common core state standards in literacy series). New York, NY:

  Teachers College Press.
- Samson, J., & Collins, B. (2012, April 30). Preparing all teachers to meet the needs of English language learners. Retrieved February 10, 2019, from https://
  www.americanprogress.org/issues/ education-k-12/reports/2012/04/30/11372/preparing-all-teachers-to-meet-the-needs-of-english-language-learners/
- Silverman, R. (2007). Vocabulary development of english-language and english-only learners in kindergarten. *Elementary School Journal*, 107(4), 365-384.
- Teaching Strategies. (2016). *The creative curriculum for preschool: Objectives for developmental and learning*. Bethesda, MD: Teaching Strategies.
- Washburn, G. N. (2008). Alone, confused, and frustrated: Developing empathy and strategies for working with English language learners. *Clearing House: A Journal of Educational Strategies, Issues and Ideas*, 81(6), 247-250.